

REVENUE RECOGNITION IN THE HEALTH CARE INDUSTRY

November 2023



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction4				
2.	Charity care guidance4				
3.	Core principle and key steps				
4.	Step 1: Identifying the contract with a customer	5			
5.	Step 2: Identifying the performance obligations in the contract	6			
	5.1 Identifying promises to transfer goods or services				
	5.2 Separating promises to transfer goods or services into performance obligations	7			
6.	Step 3: Determining the transaction price	8			
	6.1 Variable consideration	8			
	6.2 Significant financing component	9			
7.	Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations				
8.	Step 5: Recognizing revenue when (or as) each performance obligation is satisfied	11			
	8.1 Transfer of control	11			
	8.2 Satisfaction of performance obligation over time or at a point in time				
9.	Contract costs	16			
10.	Health care services provided to insured and uninsured patients				
	10.1 Identifying the contract with the customer (including evaluating collectibility)				
	10.2 Accounting for variable consideration (e.g., price concessions)	19			
	10.2.1 Implicit price concessions exist	19			
	10.2.2 No implicit price concessions exist	22			
	10.3 Identifying significant financing components when there are deferred and advance				
	payments				
11.	Third-party settlement adjustments				
	11.1 Variable consideration				
	11.2 Significant financing component				
12.					
	12.1 Costs incurred to obtain residents				
	12.2 Liabilities related to providing future residency and services to current residents				
13.	Risk sharing arrangements				
	13.1 Identifying the contract with the customer (including evaluating collectibility)				
	13.2 Identifying the performance obligations				
	13.3 Determining the transaction price				
	13.3.1. Variable consideration				
	13.3.2. Significant financing component				
	Applying a portfolio approach				
15.	Presentation and disclosure				
	15.1 Presentation	33			
	15.2 Disclosure				
	15.2.1. Disaggregation of revenue	34			
	15.2.2. Contract balances				
	15.2.3. Performance obligations				
	15.2.4. Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations	35			
	15.2.5. Significant judgments	36			
	15.2.6. Practical expedients	37			
	15.2.7. Contract costs	37			

15.2.8.	Disclosure	examples	3	8
---------	------------	----------	---	---

Page 3 of 39 © RSM US LLP

1. Introduction

In 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, *Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)*, to provide a robust framework and comprehensive principles for addressing revenue recognition issues. Additionally, the guidance on accounting for certain costs related to a contract with a customer in the scope of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606 was codified in ASC 340-40, "Other Assets and Deferred Costs—Contracts with Customers."

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) organized several industry-specific task forces to identify and provide guidance on implementation issues, including the Health Care Entities Revenue Recognition Task Force. The culmination of the AICPA task forces' activities was the issuance of a final comprehensive nonauthoritative revenue recognition guide in 2019, the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Revenue Recognition* (the Revenue Recognition AAG), which provides helpful discussion and illustrative examples on how to apply the guidance in ASC 606 and ASC 340-40. Chapter 7 of the Revenue Recognition AAG includes discussion of the following topics a health care entity may encounter in its application of the revenue recognition guidance (and which are discussed in this white paper as noted parenthetically):

- Identifying performance obligations (see Chapter 5)
- Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations (see Chapter 8)
- Accounting for contract costs (see Chapter 9)
- Arrangements for health care services provided to uninsured and insured patients with self-pay balances, including copayments and deductibles (see Chapter 10)
- Consideration of ASC 606 for third-party settlement estimates (see Chapter 11)
- Application of the five-step revenue recognition model to the contracts of a continuing care retirement community (CCRC) (see Chapter 12)
- Risk sharing arrangements (see Chapter 13)
- Applying a portfolio approach (see Chapter 14)
- Presentation and disclosure (see Chapter 15)

To facilitate understanding the implementation issues included in the Revenue Recognition AAG, we also provide overviews of the charity care guidance (Chapter 2) and the five-step revenue recognition model (Chapter 3).

For additional information about all of the revenue recognition guidance, including those aspects discussed in this white paper, as well as numerous examples illustrating how to apply the guidance, refer to our revenue recognition guide.

2. Charity care guidance

The FASB ASC Master Glossary states that "[c]harity care represents health care services that are provided but are never expected to result in cash flows. Charity care is provided to a patient with demonstrated inability to pay. Each entity establishes its own criteria for charity care consistent with its mission statement and financial ability."

When a health care entity provides health care services to an uninsured patient, it must determine whether the patient qualifies for charity care (to the extent the health care entity has a charity care policy). A health care entity accounts for charity care only on an internal basis, as charity care does not qualify for

Page 4 of 39 © RSM US LLP

revenue recognition (i.e., charity care is not reflected as a line item on the face of the income statement). Health care entities are expected to use their internal processes for identifying charity care and distinguishing it from price concessions or bad debt expense. If costs cannot be directly attributable to charity care services, management can estimate the cost using reasonable techniques. Additionally, disclosure requirements related to the costs of providing charity care apply.

3. Core principle and key steps

To put the specific aspects of the revenue recognition guidance discussed in this white paper into proper context, it is important to know that the core principle included in the guidance (ASC 606-10-10-2) is to "recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services." In addition, the guidance sets out the following steps for an entity to follow when applying the core principle to its revenue-generating transactions:



4. Step 1: Identifying the contract with a customer

This chapter provides a general overview of Step 1. Refer to Chapter 10 for discussion of applying this guidance when health care services are provided to insured and uninsured patients. Refer to Chapter 13 for discussion of applying this guidance to risk sharing arrangements.

A contract is defined in ASC 606-10-25-2 as "an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations." To account for a contract in accordance with the guidance, the following five criteria (the contract existence criteria) must be met:

- Approvals have been obtained and a commitment to perform exists on the part of both parties
- Rights of both parties are identifiable
- Payment terms are identifiable
- Commercial substance exists
- Collection of substantially all of the amount to which the entity will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer is probable (i.e., likely to occur) (the collectibility criterion)

Page 5 of 39 © RSM US LLP

To meet the collectibility criterion, an entity must be able to conclude that collection of substantially all of the amount to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer is probable. Before an entity can determine whether the collectibility criterion is met, it must determine the amount that should be evaluated for collectibility. To do so, there are two primary considerations:

- *Transaction price*. The transaction price is the amount ultimately recognized as revenue under ASC 606. Additional information about determining the transaction price is provided in Chapter 6.
- Mitigating credit risk. An entity should take into consideration its ability to mitigate credit risk related to
 the transaction price (and, if so, to what extent). Doing so could result in the amount evaluated for
 collectibility being an amount less than the transaction price.

Once the entity has determined the amount that should be evaluated for collectibility, it then determines whether collectibility of that amount is probable. Making this determination requires significant judgment.

When all of the contract existence criteria are met, the remaining steps in the five-step revenue recognition model are applied to the contract. When all of the contract existence criteria are not met, revenue is deferred and the contract existence criteria continue to be evaluated to determine whether they are subsequently met. Absent meeting the contract existence criteria, revenue is only recognized when the amounts paid by the customer (or by another party on the customer's behalf) are nonrefundable and at least one of the following applies:

- The entity has no remaining performance obligations and it has received all or substantially all of the amounts promised by the customer.
- The contract has been terminated.
- The entity has both transferred control of the goods or services to which the nonrefundable consideration relates and stopped transferring additional goods or services to the customer, and it is under no obligation to transfer any additional goods or services to the customer.

Application of this guidance (the deferral guidance) when one of the contract existence criteria has not been met could result in the initial deferral of revenue for what may be a significant period of time, even if nonrefundable cash has been received.

Step 2: Identifying the performance obligations in the contract

After contract identification (Step 1), a health care entity needs to identify the performance obligations in the contract (Step 2). Identifying the performance obligations in the contract establishes the units of account to which the transaction price should be allocated and for which revenue is recognized.

Refer to Chapter 13 for discussion of applying this guidance to risk sharing arrangements. Refer to Chapter 12 for discussion of issues that may arise when a CCRC applies this guidance. In addition, paragraphs 7.2.01 through 7.2.09 of the Revenue Recognition AAG address implementation issues that may arise when other health care entities apply this guidance.

5.1 Identifying promises to transfer goods or services

The first step in identifying the performance obligations in the contract is to identify all of the promises to provide goods or services. An entity should scrutinize its contracts and identify all of the promises to transfer goods or services to the customer. Consideration also needs to be given to whether there are promises to transfer goods or services that arise out of an entity's customary business practices instead of an explicit contract provision.

Page 6 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Not all activities performed by the entity in connection with the contract transfer a good or service to the customer. For example, setup activities do not transfer a good or service to the customer. Instead, those activities are necessary for the entity to fulfill the contract and do not themselves represent a good or service transferred to the customer. As a result, they cannot represent a performance obligation. However, depending on the facts and circumstances, the entity may be required to capitalize the costs to perform these activities (which is discussed in Chapter 9).

5.2 Separating promises to transfer goods or services into performance obligations

If there is more than one promise to transfer goods or services in a contract, consideration must be given to whether the promises to transfer goods or services should each be considered performance obligations and accounted for separately. The determining factor in this analysis is whether each promised good or service is distinct. If a promised good or service meets both of the following criteria, it is considered distinct and accounted for separately as a performance obligation unless the series exception applies:

- Capable of being distinct. If a customer can benefit from the promised good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) on its own or by combining it with other resources readily available to the customer, the good or service is capable of being distinct. A promised good or service is capable of being distinct when the entity regularly sells that good or service separately or when the customer could generate an economic benefit from using, consuming, selling or otherwise holding the good or service either on its own or when combined with other readily available resources. The ability to sell the good or service for scrap value only would not, in and of itself, support a conclusion that the promised good or service is capable of being distinct. For a resource to be readily available to the customer, it must be sold separately either by the entity or another party, or it must be a good or service that the customer already has obtained as a result of either a contract with the entity (including the contract under evaluation) or another transaction or event.
- Distinct within the context of the contract. To determine whether a promised good or service is distinct within the context of the contract, the entity must ascertain which of the following best describes its promise within the context of the specific contract:
 - The promise in the contract is to transfer the promised good or service individually. If this best
 describes the entity's promise within the context of the specific contract, the promised good or
 service is distinct within the context of the contract.
 - The promise in the contract is to transfer a combined item or items to which the promised good or service is an input. If this best describes the entity's promise within the context of the specific contract, the promised good or service is not distinct within the context of the contract.

Indicators are provided to assist in determining whether a promised good or service is distinct within the context of the contract. Answering yes to any of the following questions is an indication that the promised good or service is not distinct within the contract:

- Is the entity providing a significant service of integrating the promised good or service with one or more of the other promised goods or services in the contract, with the result of that integration being one or more of the combined outputs contracted for by the customer?
- Does the promised good or service significantly modify or customize one or more of the other
 promised goods or services in the contract, or is the promised good or service significantly
 modified or customized by one or more of the other promised goods or services in the contract?
- Is the promised good or service highly interdependent or highly interrelated with one or more of the other promised goods or services in the contract, such that each of the promised goods or services is significantly affected by one or more of the other promised goods or services? Another way to think of this question is can the satisfy each of the promises in the contract independent of its efforts to satisfy the other promises?

Page 7 of 39 © RSM US LLP

If a promised good or service is distinct, it is considered a performance obligation and accounted for separately. However, a series of distinct promised goods or services that are substantially the same should be considered a single performance obligation and accounted for as one unit of account if each of the goods or services has the same pattern of transfer to the customer as a result of each of the goods or services otherwise being considered satisfied over time and the entity otherwise having to use the same method of measuring progress toward completion for each of the goods or services.

Promised goods or services that are not distinct are combined with the other promised goods or services until the group of promised goods or services is considered distinct, at which point that group is considered a performance obligation and accounted for separately. It is possible that all of the promised goods or services in the contract might have to be accounted for as a single performance obligation. This happens when none of the promised goods or services are considered distinct on their own or together with other promised goods or services in the contract.

The Revenue Recognition AAG provides several comprehensive examples of identifying performance obligations in typical health care transactions, which are included in Chapter 8, along with the identification of the appropriate timing of revenue recognition for each performance obligation.

6. Step 3: Determining the transaction price

Transaction price is defined in ASC 606-10-32-2 as "the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties (for example, some sales taxes)." The transaction price includes or could be affected by one or more of the following:

- Fixed cash consideration
- Variable consideration
- Noncash consideration
- Significant financing component
- Consideration payable to the customer

Issues encountered by health care entities in determining the transaction price typically involve variable consideration and significant financing components. Overviews of the guidance applicable to each are provided in Section 6.1 and Section 6.2.

6.1 Variable consideration

Discounts, price concessions and contractual allowances the entity intends to offer or the customer expects to receive based on the entity's customary business practices, published policies or specific statements are examples of variable consideration. Additionally, as discussed further in Section 11.1, while contracts between third-party payors (such as government entities) and health care entities often include terms indicating the amounts third-party payors will remit for the services provided to the covered patient, the contracts are also quite complex and implicitly or explicitly allow for retrospective third-party adjustments, which results in variable consideration. For variable consideration other than a sales or usage-based royalty for which the only or predominant item to which the royalty relates is the license of intellectual property, determining the amount of variable consideration that should be included in the transaction price typically involves estimating the variable consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled and including the estimated variable consideration in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that its inclusion will not result in a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized when the uncertainty giving rise to the variability is resolved.

Page 8 of 39 © RSM US LLP

One of two methods must be used to estimate the variable consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled: the most likely amount method or the expected value method. The entity must use the method that is expected to better predict the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled. In applying either one of these methods (as appropriate), the entity should consider all reasonably available information. In addition, the same estimation method should be used when accounting for contracts with similar characteristics in similar circumstances. If a contract is subject to more than one type of uncertainty, it may be appropriate to use the most likely amount method to estimate the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled when some of the uncertainties are resolved and to use the expected value method to estimate the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled when the other uncertainties are resolved. For example, if a contract includes two variable payments and each is based on the resolution of a different uncertainty, it may be appropriate, depending on the facts and circumstances, to use the expected value method to estimate the variable consideration related to one uncertainty and the most likely amount method to estimate the variable consideration related to the other uncertainty.

Once the entity has estimated the amount to which it expects to be entitled, it then applies the variable consideration constraint to determine whether it is probable that inclusion of the variable consideration in the transaction price will not result in a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized when the uncertainty giving rise to the variability in the transaction price is resolved. If it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur with respect to all of the variable consideration, then no adjustment is made to the variable consideration included in the transaction price. If it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur with respect to only some of the variable consideration, then only that portion of the variable consideration is included in the transaction price. If it is less than probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur with respect to all of the variable consideration, then none of the variable consideration is included in the transaction price.

The estimated variable consideration must be reassessed each reporting period until the underlying uncertainty is resolved. The method used to initially estimate the variable consideration also should be used when the estimate is reassessed each reporting period.

Refer to the following sections of this white paper for further information:

- Section 10.2 for discussion of applying this guidance when health care services are provided to insured and uninsured patients
- Section 11.1 for discussion of applying this guidance to third-party settlement adjustments
- Section 13.3.1 for discussion of applying this guidance to risk sharing arrangements

6.2 Significant financing component

When a contract includes a significant implicit or explicit benefit of financing to either the entity or the customer (i.e., a significant financing component), it is taken into consideration in determining the transaction price, unless the entity qualifies for and elects to apply a practical expedient. A significant financing component could exist with respect to deferred or advance payment terms, which means it could result in the entity recognizing interest income or expense.

All of the relevant facts and circumstances related to the contract need to be considered in determining whether it includes a significant financing component. For example, an entity should consider whether there is a difference between the amount the customer would have had to (hypothetically) pay for the goods or services in cash at the time they were provided and the amount the customer is paying for those goods or services based on the deferred payment terms. An entity also should consider the amount of time that will pass between when the goods or services are provided to the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or services, along with the relevant prevailing interest rates.

Page 9 of 39 © RSM US LLP

ASC 606 specifically indicates that a significant financing component does not exist in any of the following situations:

- The customer makes an advance payment, and the timing of transferring the promised goods or services to the customer is at the customer's discretion.
- There is substantial variable consideration, and payment of that consideration is contingent on the resolution of an uncertainty that is not substantially in the entity's or customer's control.
- There are reasons not related to financing that justify the nature and amount of the difference between the cash selling prices of the goods or services and the promised consideration.

If an entity concludes there is a significant financing component in its contract with the customer, it may elect a practical expedient to ignore that financing component when estimating the transaction price if the entity expects the difference between the entity's transfer of the goods or services to the customer and the customer's payment for those goods or services to be one year or less at contract inception. When assessing whether the practical expedient can be applied, it is important to focus on these two events and not the duration of the contract in its totality.

If an entity chooses not to consider the practical expedient, or concludes that the practical expedient cannot be applied in its facts and circumstances, the significant financing component must be taken into consideration in estimating the transaction price. The objective of doing so is to recognize revenue in an amount consistent with what the customer would have paid in cash upon the transfer of the promised goods or services.

To adjust the promised consideration for the significant financing component, the entity should use a discount rate consistent with the rate that would be present in a separate financing transaction between the entity and the customer at contract inception. Such discount rate should take into consideration: the credit risk of the entity (when advance payments are involved) or the customer (when deferred payments are involved) and any collateral or other security provided by either the entity or the customer. The discount rate is not adjusted after contract inception.

Refer to the following sections of this white paper for further information:

- Section 10.3 for discussion of identifying significant financing components when there are deferred or advance payments related to health care services provided to insured and uninsured patients
- Section 11.2 for discussion of applying this guidance to third-party settlement adjustments
- Chapter 12 for discussion of issues that may arise when a CCRC applies this guidance
- Section 13.3.2 for discussion of applying this guidance to risk sharing arrangements

7. Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

If a contract has more than one performance obligation, the transaction price should generally be allocated to each performance obligation based on the standalone selling prices of each performance obligation in relation to the total of those standalone selling prices (i.e., on a relative standalone selling price basis). Exceptions to the relative standalone selling price method are provided for certain situations involving discounts or variable consideration that can be shown to be related to one or more (but fewer than all) performance obligations.

The standalone selling price of a performance obligation is the amount the entity charges (or would charge) when the distinct goods or services that make up the performance obligation (i.e., the underlying

Page 10 of 39 © RSM US LLP

distinct goods or services) are sold on their own to a customer. Standalone selling prices are determined at contract inception and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in facts and circumstances.

The best evidence of the standalone selling price of the underlying goods or services is the observable price charged by the entity for those goods or services when they are sold separately in similar circumstances to similar customers. Absent evidence of a directly observable standalone selling price, the entity is required to estimate a standalone selling price. In making this estimate, the entity should maximize observable inputs and consider all reasonably available and relevant information, which includes both entity- and market-specific information.

Refer to Chapter 12 for discussion of issues that may arise when a CCRC applies this guidance.

8. Step 5: Recognizing revenue when (or as) each performance obligation is satisfied

Revenue is recognized when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, which is when control of the underlying distinct goods or services is transferred to the customer. The amount of revenue recognized when the performance obligation is satisfied is the amount of the transaction price allocated to it.

Refer to Chapter 12 for discussion of issues that may arise when a CCRC applies this guidance. In addition, paragraphs 7.5.01 through 7.5.08 of the Revenue Recognition AAG provide guidance on the implementation issues that may arise when health care entities other than CCRCs apply this guidance.

8.1 Transfer of control

Control of an asset has transferred to a customer when the customer has the ability to direct the use of the good or service and receive substantially all of the related remaining benefits, which includes the customer being able to stop others from directing the use of the good or service and receiving substantially all of the related remaining benefits. For this purpose, benefits are considered in terms of the potential cash flows the customer can obtain (directly or indirectly) as a result of having control of the good or service.

ASC 606 provides several indicators that should be considered in assessing whether control of an asset has transferred, including indicators focused on the customer's obligation to pay, customer acceptance and the transfer of legal title, physical possession and the significant risks and rewards of ownership.

8.2 Satisfaction of performance obligation over time or at a point in time

To identify the appropriate timing and pattern of revenue recognition, an entity must perform an evaluation at contract inception focused on whether the performance obligation is satisfied (and control of the underlying good or service is transferred) over time or at a point in time. If a performance obligation meets one or more of the following criteria, it is considered satisfied over time:

- Customer simultaneously receives and consumes benefits as entity performs. A performance
 obligation is satisfied over time if the customer consumes the benefits of the entity's performance at
 the same time as the customer receives those benefits and the entity performs and creates those
 benefits. If it is not readily apparent whether this is the case in a particular set of facts and
 circumstances, then a performance obligation is satisfied over time if another entity could step in and
 fulfill the remaining performance obligation without having to substantially reperform the work already
 performed by the entity.
- Customer controls the asset as the entity creates or enhances the asset. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if the customer controls the asset (which could be tangible or intangible) as it is created or enhanced by the entity's performance.

Page 11 of 39 © RSM US LLP

• No alternative use and an enforceable right to payment for performance to date. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if the asset created by the entity's performance does not have an alternative use to the entity upon its completion and the entity's right to payment for its performance to date is enforceable. In making the alternative use assessment, an entity needs to determine the nature and substance of any legal or practical limitations on its ability to redirect (e.g., sell to another customer) the completed asset created by its performance.

If the performance obligation is considered satisfied over time because one of these three criteria is met, the related revenue is recognized over time if the entity is able to reasonably measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using reliable information. The objective of this method should be to measure the progress made in transferring control of the underlying goods or services to the customer. Output methods or input methods can be used to measure progress toward complete satisfaction of performance obligations. Output methods rely on the value of the underlying goods or services included in the performance obligation. Input methods rely on the efforts put forth by the entity to satisfy the performance obligation.

Regardless of whether an output or input method is used, the measurement of progress toward complete satisfaction of a performance obligation should only reflect the underlying goods or services for which control has transferred to the customer and should not reflect any underlying goods or services for which control has not transferred to the customer or any activities that are not themselves promised goods or services (e.g., setup activities). Identifying an appropriate measurement of progress toward complete satisfaction of a performance obligation could be complex when the entity is recognizing revenue over time because the asset has no alternative use and the right to payment is enforceable. In these situations, the entity should consider whether there being no alternative use or an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date effectively results in control of the entity's performance to date transferring to the customer.

If a performance obligation does not meet any of the three criteria discussed earlier, it is considered satisfied at a point in time and revenue is recognized at the point in time that the customer obtains control over the underlying good or service.

The Revenue Recognition AAG includes several examples illustrating the application of the five-step model, including the identification of performance obligations, assessing whether revenue should be recognized over time or at a point in time and identifying an appropriate measure of progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.



Example 8-1: Inpatient Health Care Services (Revenue Recognition AAG Example 7-5-1)

Acute Care Hospital (ACH) provided an inpatient surgical procedure to a patient who required four days of care in the hospital. This procedure required ACH to provide and coordinate numerous goods or services to the patient (including a patient room, meals, nursing care, physician services, therapy services, drugs, supplies, and so forth) within the four days of care. In this example, ACH is acting as the principal for the inpatient services provided.

ACH considered if the room provided to the patient includes a lease component. If a lease component is identified, that component would be accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 840 or 842, Leases, and any non-lease components would be accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 606.

This example presumes that ACH concluded there is not a lease of the patient room to the patient. In this example, ACH concluded that the bundle of goods and services provided during this inpatient stay should be accounted for as a single performance obligation. In reaching this conclusion, ACH considered the following factors:

Page 12 of 39 © RSM US LLP

- a. Although the patient could have benefitted from some of the individual goods or services (for example, room, meals, drugs) provided as part of the inpatient care and surgery (that is, some of the individual goods or services are capable of being distinct), the nature of ACH's promise to the patient was to transfer a combined service (the inpatient surgical procedure and related goods and services). Additionally, the patient's expectation is that he or she will receive the full scale of the combined care during the inpatient stay.
- b. The overall provision of care may include identifying goods or services to be provided, including how much nursing care and physician services are necessary, which drugs to administer, and how long the patient will need to stay in the facility and be provided a room, meals, and supplies. In coordinating the patient's care during the inpatient stay, ACH provided a significant service of integrating the goods or services promised in the contract into a bundle of goods and services that represents the combined service for which the patient has contracted.
- c. Substantially all of the goods or services provided during the inpatient stay are highly dependent on, or highly interrelated with, other goods or services promised in the contract. For example, a patient is not in a position to decide whether or not to purchase an imaging procedure that is required to determine a course of treatment or to guide a surgical procedure, without significantly affecting that course of treatment or surgical procedure. Similarly, a patient is not in a position to decide whether or not to purchase a general anesthetic when general anesthesia is required for a surgical procedure.
- d. In this example, the individual promised goods or services are not substantially the same and do not represent a series of distinct goods and services. In this case, the goods and services are not substantially the same during the inpatient stay because different and additional goods and services were provided in connection with the surgical procedure at the beginning of the stay, but fewer and different goods and services were provided post-surgery as the patient recovered. The goods and services provided on Day 1 are substantially different from the goods and services provided on Day 4 in terms of the actual services provided, the level of direct physician activity, and the amount of drugs or other supplies. Because the goods and services provided on Day 1 were substantially different than the goods and services provided on Day 4 and were not provided in the same pattern, ACH determined that the goods and services provided during the other three days of the stay do not constitute a series of distinct goods and services.

In accordance with FASB ASC 606-10-25-27, ACH determined that the inpatient procedure should be accounted for over time (versus point in time) because the patient simultaneously received and consumed the benefits provided by ACH as ACH performed.

In this example, the patient is covered by insurance and the payment for the inpatient services is based on diagnostic-related group codes. ACH is entitled to a payment from the insurer, and a related deductible or coinsurance payment from the patient, for all goods and services related to the inpatient stay that is calculated without regard to the amount of resources that ACH provides to the patient. ACH considered all of the factors in step 3 of FASB ASC 606 and determined that these payments represent the transaction price.

The revenue recognized at the reporting date by ACH is determined by multiplying the transaction price by a measure of the progress toward the complete satisfaction of the performance obligation to be incurred over the complete inpatient stay.

To measure the progress in satisfying the performance obligation at the reporting date, ACH considered various input and output methods and determined its undiscounted charges represented the best proxy of its progress on satisfying the performance obligation. ACH reached this conclusion because it establishes its charges to reflect the level of effort it incurs to provide goods or services to its patients. As a result, in this case, ACH measured progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation by using

Page 13 of 39 © RSM US LLP

undiscounted charges incurred as of the reporting date relative to the total expected undiscounted charges to be incurred over the inpatient stay.



Example 8-2: Outpatient Health Care Services — Discrete Visit (Revenue Recognition AAG Example 7-5-2A)

Physician A provides goods and services to a patient during an annual physical exam that included performing inquiry with the patient, obtaining certain vital statistics, performing certain lab tests, and providing any additional goods and services as necessary depending on the information obtained during the annual physical exam. In this scenario, the patient's insurance company pays a specified amount per outpatient visit based on ambulatory payment classification codes.

Physician A concluded that the goods (for example, supplies) and services provided during this exam represent a single performance obligation even though the underlying tasks performed in each patient's annual physical exam will vary by patient. Because the patient simultaneously received and consumed the benefits of the services provided in the physical exam in accordance with FASB ASC 606-10-25-27a, Physician A concluded that the revenue should be recognized over time; however, in this case, because all of the goods and services were provided when the exam was performed (including the lab services), the revenue recognition would be the same as point in time because all of the goods and services were provided the same day. Physician A based these conclusions using similar criteria as ACH in example 7-5-1.

During the previously discussed physical exam, because it was the beginning of flu season, Physician A inquired if the patient had obtained a flu shot. Because a flu shot is not part of the standard protocol for the annual physical exam (that is, if the annual physical exam occurred in April, the patient would likely not need to obtain a flu shot at that particular time), and the patient could obtain a flu shot from Physician A or the patient could obtain the flu shot from a different source entirely unrelated to Physician A, the flu shot was viewed as a separate performance obligation by Physician A. Because the patient simultaneously received and consumed the benefits of the services provided by the flu shot in accordance with FASB ASC 606-10-25-27a, the revenue from the flu shot should be recognized over time. However, the recognition would be the same as point in time for this particular service because the length of the service was only a few minutes. In some instances, communication of lab results or other visit-related follow-up services may be provided on a separate day from the actual visit. Physician A should consider if these services are administrative in nature or if these services are part of the performance obligation or represent a separate performance obligation. If the services do not provide additional goods or services to the patient and are considered administrative in nature, the transaction price would not be allocated to these services. However, if these services represent the transfer of additional goods or services that are part of the performance obligation or create a separate performance obligation, a portion of the transaction price should be allocated to these goods or services.



Example 8-3 Outpatient Health Care Services — Physical Therapy (Revenue Recognition AAG Example 7-5-2B)

Performance Obligations — Outpatient Health Care Services — Physical Therapy

ABC Physical Therapy (ABC PT) provides Patient A physical therapy services three times per week in 30 minute increments to strengthen Patient A's back. Patient A's physician orders a total of 12 visits. In this scenario, Patient A's insurance company will only pay for the actual number of visits the patient attends (not to exceed the prescribed 12 visits) at a fixed amount per visit. ABC PT concluded that, in this case, each visit would be a separate performance obligation. ABC PT reached this conclusion because the

Page 14 of 39 © RSM US LLP

patient has the unilateral right to terminate the contract after each visit with no penalty or compensation due. If a contract can be terminated by either party at any time without compensating the other party for the termination (that is, other than paying amounts due as a result of goods or services transferred up to the termination date), the duration of the contract does not extend beyond the goods or services already transferred. That is the case whether or not the contract has a specified contract period (in this example, the 12 visits). Because the patient simultaneously received and consumed the benefits of the physical therapy services in accordance with FASB ASC 606-10-25-27a as each visit occurs ABC PT concluded that the revenue would be recognized over time.

ABC PT determined that each subsequent visit is an option for which there is not a material right as the price of each visit is a standard price consistent with the price for the initial visit (that is, there is no discount for each subsequent visit). As a result, ABC PT should recognize revenue for each subsequent visit as it occurs.



Example 8-4: Skilled Nursing Facility Services (Revenue Recognition AAG Example 7-5-3)

Traditional Skilled Nursing Facility (TSNF) provides nursing home care to Resident A. As part of Resident A's care, TSNF provides on a daily basis, room and board, administration of medications, program activities, and, on certain days, in-house physical therapy services. The length of Resident A's stay at TSNF is not determinable because the date of discharge is based on patient progress; however, the contract with the patient is for a 30-day period, with automatic renewal unless one of the parties provides notice of termination. Although the contract is for 30 days, Resident A may terminate the contract on a daily basis with no penalty for termination. The amount billed for the services described are based on a daily rate to be paid by Resident A, or its third-party payor based on the actual days for which care is provided.

TSNF considered if the room provided to the resident includes a lease component. If a lease component is identified, that component would be accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 840 or 842, and any non-lease components would be accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 606.

This example presumes that TSNF concluded there is not a lease of the patient room to the patient.

Although Resident A could benefit from some of the individual goods or services (for example, room, meals, drugs) provided as part of the individual plan of care (that is, some of the individual goods or services are capable of being distinct), the nature of TSNF's promise to Resident A is to transfer a combined item (skilled nursing facility services) to which the promised goods or services noted previously are inputs.

TSNF is responsible for the overall provision of care, which includes identifying goods or services to be provided, including how much skilled nursing care is necessary, which drugs to administer, and how long Resident A will need to stay in the facility and require a room, meals, and supplies.

TSNF concludes that each day that Resident A receives services represents a separate contract and performance obligation based on the fact that Resident A has the unilateral right to terminate the contract after each day with no penalty or compensation due. If a contract can be terminated by either party at any time without compensating the other party for the termination (that is, other than paying amounts due as a result of goods or services transferred up to the termination date), the duration of the contract does not extend beyond the goods or services already transferred. That is the case whether or not the contract has a specified contract period.

Page 15 of 39 © RSM US LLP

TSNF determined that the daily renewal is an option in which there is not a material right as the price of the renewal is a price consistent with the price for the initial day (that is, there is no discount for the renewal). As a result, TSNF would account for the renewal (that is, each day) when exercised by Resident A.

While at TSNF, Resident A requested that TSNF provide her transportation services to her physician's office. Transportation for this type of request is not covered by TSNF in its normal routine of care and is a service the facility provides to its residents requiring an additional fee based on miles driven and the type of vehicle required for the transport.

This transportation service for Resident A is capable of being distinct from the standard goods and services provided in the contract and is not a service that is provided in similar increments on a regular basis as part of the care contract with Resident A. Resident A could also purchase this service from other service providers and TSNF does not provide a discount on the transportation services. TSNF concluded that the transportation service provided by TSNF is a separate performance obligation that should be recognized as revenue as the service is provided.

Because the patient simultaneously received and consumed the benefits of the services provided by TSNF in accordance with FASB ASC 606-10-25-27a, TSNF concluded that the revenue should be recognized over time.

Contract costs

ASC 340-40 addresses the circumstances under which the following costs should be capitalized.

- Costs to fulfill a contract. If there is other guidance in the ASC that applies to the costs incurred to
 fulfill a contract (e.g., inventory costs), that other guidance should be applied. If there is no specific
 guidance in the ASC that applies to costs incurred to fulfill a contract, the guidance in ASC 340-40
 should be applied, which requires capitalization of those costs when all of the following criteria are
 met:
 - The costs incurred by the entity are directly related to a specific contract or anticipated contract (e.g., direct labor related to setup activities).
 - The costs incurred by the entity generate or enhance resources that will be used in the future to satisfy (or continue to satisfy) performance obligations (i.e., the activities giving rise to the costs are not performance obligations in and of themselves but do contribute to the satisfaction of performance obligations).
 - The costs incurred by the entity are expected to be recovered (i.e., the net cash flows of the contract and expected renewals will cover the costs).

If these criteria are met, the fulfillment costs must be capitalized. In other words, there is no option to expense fulfillment costs for which these criteria are met.

• Costs to obtain a contract. The incremental costs to obtain a contract (i.e., those costs related to obtaining the contract that would not have been incurred if the contract was not obtained), such as a sales commission, should be capitalized if the entity expects to recover those costs (i.e., the net cash flows of the contract and expected renewals will cover the costs). However, an entity may elect a practical expedient that allows it to expense the incremental costs to obtain a contract if the amortization period for those costs would otherwise be one year or less. Costs to obtain a contract that are not incremental (i.e., costs related to obtaining the contract that would have been incurred regardless of whether the contract had been obtained) should only be capitalized if they are explicitly chargeable to the customer regardless of whether the entity enters into a contract with the customer. Otherwise, such costs are expensed as incurred.

Page 16 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Capitalized contract costs should be amortized in a manner that is consistent with how the related goods or services are transferred to the customer. For example, if the related services are transferred to the customer continuously and evenly over the amortization period, straight-line amortization of the capitalized costs would typically be appropriate.

Capitalized contract costs are tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the capitalized costs to an amount that considers the contract consideration an entity expects to receive in the future, the contract consideration the entity already has received but has not yet recognized as revenue and the direct costs related to transferring goods or services that remain to be recognized as an expense under the contract. The time period reflected in the impairment test should take into consideration expected contract renewals and extensions with the same customer. Once an impairment loss is recognized, it is not reversed under any circumstance.

Health care organizations may enter into contracts in which they incur costs to fulfill or obtain a contract. Examples of these include CCRC contracts (Refer to Section 12.1 for discussion of issues that may arise when a CCRC applies this guidance), prepaid health plans, risk-sharing contracts or other contracts. Paragraphs 7.7.61 through 7.7.73 of the Revenue Recognition AAG provide guidance on implementation issues that may arise when health care entities apply this guidance.

Health care services provided to insured and uninsured patients

The discussion in this section is primarily based on the guidance in paragraphs 7.6.01 to 7.6.43 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, which focus on issues that arise in applying the following aspects of ASC 606 to health care services provided to insured and uninsured patients:

- Identifying the contract with the customer (including evaluating collectibility)
- Accounting for variable consideration (e.g., price concessions)
- Identifying significant financing components when there are deferred and advance payments

10.1 Identifying the contract with the customer (including evaluating collectibility)

While in many cases it will be relatively straightforward for a health care entity to determine whether a contract exists for accounting purposes, in some cases doing so may be more complex. The degree of complexity depends on the nature of the health care entity's practice with respect to establishing contracts with its patients and whether this practice varies depending on the nature of the services provided or other factors, such as whether there is a third-party payor involved. A less complex determination may be involved, for example, when a health care entity requires a patient to complete and sign a patient responsibility form prior to providing that patient with any services. When completed and approved, such a form (depending on its contents) may evidence the payment terms and each party's performance commitments and rights and obligations. A more complex determination may be involved, for example, when the health care entity enters into oral contracts or implied contracts with patients based on its customary business practices (e.g., scheduling elective surgery in advance).

When oral or implied contracts are the basis for providing services to a patient, the health care entity must exercise judgment in determining whether such a contract identifies the payment terms and each party's performance commitments, rights and obligations. Ultimately, determining whether an oral or implied contract legally exists and understanding the terms of such a contract may require the entity to consult with its legal counsel. It is important to note, however, that reaching a conclusion that an oral or implied contract exists for legal purposes does not automatically result in the conclusion that a contract exists for accounting purposes. To reach the latter conclusion, all of the contract existence criteria discussed in Chapter 4 must be met. For example, an oral or implied contract may exist for legal purposes, but not for

Page 17 of 39 © RSM US LLP

accounting purposes because the collectibility criterion (one of the contract existence criteria) has not been met.

A particularly complex determination as to whether a contract exists for accounting purposes arises when the patient is unable to make a commitment to perform under a contract before the health care entity provides services to the patient. Consider a situation in which a patient is brought to the emergency room in need of immediate medical attention. Certain health care entities may be required by law, regulation or their own charity care policy to provide emergency or other necessary services to patients without regard to whether the patient is insured or has the ability to pay. In addition, health care entities that are charitable organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code must have written policies that limit the amount the health care entity may charge for emergency or other medically necessary services provided to qualifying individuals. In these types of situations, the specific facts and circumstances must be carefully analyzed to determine if and when there is a basis to conclude that the health care entity and patient have entered into a contract for accounting purposes. Example 3 in ASC 606-10-55 illustrates a situation in which the patient cannot commit to perform their obligations when brought to the emergency room for immediate medical attention due to the condition. In addition, the health care entity is unable to ascertain whether the patient qualifies for charity care or government subsidies. As a result, a contract with that patient does not exist for accounting purposes when the services are provided, which results in the recognition of no revenue at that point in time. Only after providing the services and gathering additional information is the health care entity in that example able to conclude a contract exists for accounting purposes (i.e., that all of the contract existence criteria are met).

Concluding that a contract exists for accounting purposes also requires the collectibility criterion to be met. Before a health care entity can determine whether the collectibility criterion is met, it must determine the amount that should be evaluated for collectibility. As discussed in Chapter 4, there are two primary considerations in doing so: determining the transaction price (see Chapter 6 and Section 10.2) and determining whether the health care entity can mitigate its credit risk.

Taking into consideration the health care entity's ability to mitigate credit risk related to the transaction price (and, if so, to what extent) could result in the amount evaluated for collectibility being an amount less than the transaction price. For example, the health care entity and patient may enter into a contract for medical services that will be provided over six monthly appointments. The health care entity in this situation may be able to mitigate its credit risk by having the contractual and practical ability to stop providing the patient with services if the patient does not fulfill its obligation to pay for each medical procedure within 30 days of when the procedure was performed (which would be prior to the patient's next appointment). If the health care entity mitigates its credit risk in this manner and, in practice, discontinues providing patients with services if they do not pay within 30 days, the amount evaluated for collectibility is the fee for each monthly appointment. Another way in which a health care entity may be able to mitigate its credit risk is by requiring its patients to pay for health care services in advance. For example, a health care entity may require a patient to make a nonrefundable prepayment for a portion of the estimated fees for an elective surgical procedure. While the health care entity has mitigated some of its credit risk in this situation, the amount evaluated for collectibility still includes the portion of the transaction price prepaid. However, when evaluating whether collection of that amount is probable, the health care entity takes the nonrefundable prepayment into consideration (i.e., collection of at least the amount prepaid is probable).

Once the health care entity has determined the amount that should be evaluated for collectibility, it then determines whether collectibility of that amount is probable. Making this determination could involve the health care entity considering its history with that patient or assigning the patient to a particular customer class based on the patient's information. If the health care entity has patient-specific history indicating no consideration was collected from the patient for services provided in the past, such history may be strong evidence that the collectibility criterion is not met.

Page 18 of 39 © RSM US LLP

When all of the contract existence criteria are not met, application of certain elements of the deferral guidance discussed in Chapter 4, such as determining whether a contract has been terminated or whether the health care entity is under no obligation to transfer any additional goods or services, may require involvement of the health care entity's legal counsel.

Given the implications of reaching the appropriate conclusions with respect to whether a contract exists (including whether collectibility is probable) and appropriately estimating the transaction price, health care entities should make sure they have the processes in place to determine whether all of the contract existence criteria in ASC 606 are met and all of the discounts and price concessions have been identified and taken into consideration in estimating the transaction price. This could be a significant undertaking for some health care entities given that the applicable legacy GAAP did not incorporate all of the same criteria and concepts.

10.2 Accounting for variable consideration (e.g., price concessions)

For health care entities, the transaction price will often be less than the stated price (e.g., standard rate or gross charges) because of the industry practice to provide discounts, price concessions and contractual allowances to the patient based in part on whether the patient has insurance coverage from a third-party payor and the nature of that coverage. Essentially, any portion of the standard rate or gross charges that could eventually be affected by discounts, price concessions or contractual allowances makes that portion of the standard rate or gross charges variable consideration.

Discounts, price concessions and contractual allowances may be explicit or implicit. An example of an explicit price concession is when the health care entity maintains a policy to provide uninsured self-pay patients a 70% discount off its standard rates or gross charges for the services. An example of an implicit price concession is when the health care entity places an uninsured self-pay patient in a billing and collection category for which it expects to only collect 10% of the discounted rate (the standard rate less the 70% discount). Based on paragraph 7.6.24 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, the following two questions may be considered by a health care entity when determining whether it intends to offer an implicit price concession:

- Are health care services typically provided to a patient (or patient class) without first performing a credit assessment (e.g., is the health care entity required by law to provide emergency health care services regardless of the patient's intent and ability to pay)?
- Does the health care entity continue to provide health care services to a patient (or patient class) despite historical evidence that shows it is not probable the patient will pay substantially all of the discounted charges?

Based on Paragraph 7.6.25 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, if one or both of these questions is answered in the affirmative, an implicit price concession exists even if the health care entity intends to bill, and tries to collect, the full amount of the discounted charges. Examples 7-6-1 through 7-6-7 of the Revenue Recognition AAG illustrate how to identify and account for implicit price concessions.

While many health care entities provide implicit price concessions that reflect the patient's credit risk, some do not. The accounting for both situations is discussed in the following section.

10.2.1 Implicit price concessions exist

It may take a health care entity some time to estimate the variable consideration to which it expects to be entitled (e.g., the extent of any discounts or price concessions it expects to provide to a patient) because, as discussed previously, it may provide emergency services to the patient without knowing whether the patient is insured, has the ability to pay or qualifies for charity care. Depending on the facts and circumstances, it may be appropriate to use historical evidence (e.g., the likelihood of different discounts ultimately being offered to similarly situated patients) to estimate the discounts or price concessions that will ultimately be provided to patients in these situations. The discussion in paragraph 7.6.10 of the

Page 19 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that historical evidence will generally be used in practice to estimate the implicit discounts or price concessions for a portfolio of contracts. Each health care entity should take its own facts and circumstances into consideration when identifying the evidence to be used in estimating the implicit discounts or price concessions for a portfolio of contracts. As discussed in Section 6.1, the health care entity should evaluate whether it is using either the most likely amount method or expected value method to estimate the effects of implicit discounts or price concessions on the transaction price.

Also as discussed in Section 6.1, the health care entity must apply the variable consideration constraint to the portion of the transaction price estimate that could be affected by implicit discounts or price concessions. If the method used by the health care entity to estimate the effects of the implicit discounts and price concessions on the transaction price is consistent with the objective of the variable consideration constraint (i.e., it is probable that there will not be a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized), separate application of the variable consideration constraint may not be necessary.

Paragraph 7.6.27 of the Revenue Recognition AAG includes the following factors a health care entity should consider when explicitly applying the variable consideration constraint and assessing whether it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur:

- To what extent is the amount collected from the patient affected by factors not within the health care entity's control? The greater the extent to which the amount collected from the patient is affected by factors not within the health care entity's control, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur.
- How much experience does the health care entity have with collecting amounts from similar patients?
 The less experience the health care entity has, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur.
- How long does it take the health care entity to collect the amounts owed by its patients? The longer it
 takes the health care entity to collect, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative
 revenue recognized could occur.
- To what extent does the health care entity change the discounts and price concessions offered to patients? The greater the extent to which the health care entity changes the discounts and price concessions offered to patients, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur.
- How broad is the range of possible payment amounts captured in the health care entity's historical information for similar patients? The broader the range of possible payment amounts, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur.

If sufficient historical evidence does not exist with respect to the health care entity's ability to qualify patients for charity care or a government subsidy or with respect to its ability to estimate the extent of implicit discounts or price concessions, it ultimately may conclude that the contract existence criteria discussed in Chapter 4 are not met. When those criteria are not met, revenue is deferred until the criteria are met (at which point the remainder of the five-step revenue recognition model is applied) or until one of three specific situations discussed in Chapter 4 arises.

To illustrate how the variable consideration guidance should be applied by a health care entity, consider the following example.



Example 10-1: Estimating transaction price with implicit and explicit price concessions

Health Care Entity (HCE) provides emergency health care services to Patient, who is an uninsured self-pay patient. The standard rate for the services provided is \$50,000. Upon gathering the necessary information from Patient (including information necessary to assess Patient's ability and intent to pay),

Page 20 of 39 © RSM US LLP

HCE determines that Patient should be placed in category C1 of its uninsured self-pay patient population for billing and collection purposes. For all uninsured self-pay patients, HCE's policy is to discount its standard rates by 70%, which means Patient receives a \$35,000 discount (\$50,000 x 70%) under this policy. In addition, for uninsured self-pay patients assigned to category C1, HCE estimates that it will collect 10% of the discounted amount, which means HCE estimates that it will collect \$1,500 ([\$50,000 - \$35,000] x 10%) from Patient. For purposes of its billing and collection efforts, however, HCE bills and attempts to collect \$15,000 (\$50,000 - \$35,000) from Patient. HCE evaluates the estimated variable consideration of \$1,500 and concludes that it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. Based on the guidance in paragraphs 7.6.24 and 7.6.25 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, HCE intends to offer an implicit discount of \$13,500 (\$15,000 - \$1,500).

HCE estimates the transaction price (and net patient service revenue [NPSR]) for its contract with Patient in this situation as follows:

Standard rate	\$50,000
Explicit discount	(35,000)
Implicit discount	(13,500)
Transaction price (NPSR)	\$1,500

As discussed in paragraph 7.6.33 and further explained in Examples 7-6-1 and 7-6-3 in the Revenue Recognition AAG, while each health care entity should make this determination based on its own facts and circumstances, when the transaction price includes variable consideration as a result of implicit price concessions, changes in the amount expected to be collected from a patient generally should be reflected as a change in that variable consideration (which is discussed later in this section). However, if the change in the amount expected to be collected can be attributed to a patient-specific event that has occurred since the patient's credit risk was initially assessed (e.g., the patient loses his or her job or files for bankruptcy), the change is reflected as bad debt expense. When accounting for variable consideration on a portfolio basis for a particular patient class, the health care entity should be monitoring information about the implicit price concessions provided to patients in the portfolio and the collection rate for the portfolio to determine whether the estimated variable consideration for the portfolio requires adjustment or whether bad debt expense should be recorded (which is further explained in Example 7-6-3 of the Revenue Recognition AAG).

Changes in variable consideration not caused by a contract modification (such as a change in the estimated amount of an implicit price concession) or that cannot be attributed to a patient-specific event occurring after the initial assessment of the patient's credit risk (as discussed in the preceding paragraph) should be allocated to the performance obligations in the contract on the same basis that was used to allocate the transaction price at contract inception (with limited exceptions). When this is the case and there is only one performance obligation and that performance obligation has been satisfied when the change in variable consideration occurs, the adjustment to the transaction price should be reflected as an increase or decrease to revenue, as appropriate, in the period the variable consideration changed. For example, if the only performance obligation is an outpatient surgical procedure and that procedure has been completed and the related transaction price has been recognized as revenue, when the health care entity appropriately determines that an adjustment to decrease the implicit price concession (i.e., increase the transaction price) is necessary, it should recognize that adjustment as an increase to revenue at that point in time.

Page 21 of 39 © RSM US LLP

To the extent a health care entity's estimates of the amounts it expects to collect change frequently or to a significant extent, it should reassess the estimation process it has in place for variable consideration, including the assessment of whether it is probable that there will not be a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized when final collections are made.

10.2.2 No implicit price concessions exist

Some health care entities may not provide an implicit price concession based on the patient's ability and intent to pay. For example, a health care entity specializing in elective surgical procedures may not permit credit-related discounts from its standard rates. To manage its risk of default, the health care entity assesses the patient's ability and intent to pay prior to performing the procedures.

If the health care entity has appropriate policies and procedures in place to determine whether the patient (or patient class) has the ability and intent to pay the standard rates for the procedures to be performed and concludes that the patient (or patient class) has the requisite ability and intent to pay after applying and performing those policies and procedures, the health care entity is concluding that it is probable that it will collect substantially all (e.g., 97%) of the consideration to which it expects to be entitled. As a result, there is no implicit price concession that reflects the patient's (or patient class's) credit risk and, if the historical evidence the health care entity has for this patient class shows that it collects 97% of the amounts billed to its patients, the health care entity recognizes revenue for 100% of the billed amount (i.e., its standard rates) and bad debt expense for 3% of the billed amount (provided the remainder of the five-step revenue recognition model would otherwise result in the health care entity recognizing revenue). To the extent there is a subsequent change in circumstances that affects a patient's (or a patient class's) ability and intent to pay (e.g., the patient loses their job, the patient class's ability to pay is affected by an economic downturn), the health care entity recognizes the effects of a credit loss in accordance with the applicable guidance in the ASC on accounts receivable and presents the credit loss as bad debt expense (which is further explained in Example 7-6-6 of the Revenue Recognition AAG).

If the health care entity does not have appropriate policies and procedures in place to determine whether the patient has the ability and intent to pay the standard rates for the procedures to be performed, or if the health care entity concludes that the patient does not have the requisite ability and intent to pay after applying and performing those policies and procedures, the health care entity is concluding it is not probable that it will collect substantially all of the consideration to which it expects to be entitled. As a result, the contract existence criteria are not met and revenue recognition is deferred until the contract existence criteria are met or one of the situations in the deferral guidance discussed in Chapter 4 arises.

10.3 Identifying significant financing components when there are deferred and advance payments

It is not uncommon for health care entities to receive payments on a deferred basis. For example, as discussed in Section 11.2 and Section 13.3.2, health care entities typically receive third-party settlement adjustments months (and sometimes even more than a year) after the services have been provided to the patients. A health care entity may also offer payment plans to uninsured self-pay patients that span months or years. It is also not uncommon for certain types of health care entities to receive advance payments from their customers. To the extent a health care entity receives payments on a deferred or advance basis, it should consider the guidance on significant financing components discussed in Section 6.2 to determine whether there is a significant financing component that should be reflected in the transaction price.

11. Third-party settlement adjustments

Third-party payors, such as Medicare, Medicaid or an insurance company, often are involved in paying health care entities for services provided to patients. Paragraphs 7.6.44 through 7.6.72 of the Revenue

Page 22 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Recognition AAG include discussion of issues that arise when a health care entity applies ASC 606 to situations in which a third-party payor is involved.

The threshold question addressed in the Revenue Recognition AAG is whether a third-party payor's involvement should be considered when applying the five-step revenue recognition model. While paragraph 7.6.46 of the Revenue Recognition AAG acknowledges that the guidance in ASC 606 should be used to account for the contract between the patient and the health care entity, it goes on to indicate that a third-party payor's involvement should be considered when estimating the transaction price for the contract.

Accounting for the contracts between third-party payors and health care entities typically involves consideration of the following aspects of ASC 606 on determining the transaction price:

- Variable consideration. While contracts between third-party payors and health care entities often
 include terms indicating the amounts third-party payors will remit for the services provided to the
 covered patient, the contracts are also quite complex and implicitly or explicitly allow for retrospective
 third-party settlement adjustments, which results in variable consideration. Applying the variable
 consideration guidance to third-party settlement adjustments is discussed in Section 11.1.
- Significant financing component. The period of time between when services are provided to the covered patient and when third-party settlement adjustments related to those services are finalized could be lengthy(e.g., more than a year), which raises the question as to whether there is a significant financing component that should be reflected in the transaction price. Applying the significant financing component guidance to third-party settlement adjustments is discussed in Section 11.2.

11.1 Variable consideration

Based on the guidance discussed in Section 6.1, the health care entity should use either the most likely amount method or the expected value method based on which provides the better estimate of the third-party settlement adjustment. While ASC 606-10-32-8(b) indicates that the most likely amount method may provide an appropriate estimate in situations with two potential outcomes, paragraph 7.6.52 of the Revenue Recognition AAG points out that ASC 606-10-32-8(b) does not prohibit use of the most likely amount method when there are more than two potential outcomes. In addition, paragraph 7.6.52 of the Revenue Recognition AAG goes on to indicate that the most likely amount method may be used by health care entities to estimate third-party settlement adjustments when there are more than two different outcomes, provided that method better predicts the amount to which the health care entities expect to be entitled. Regardless of whether the portfolio approach (see Chapter 14) is used to estimate the third-party settlement adjustment, current and historical information related to third-party settlements (e.g., information about reimbursements, charges, allowable costs, patient statistics and experience with any fiscal intermediaries) should be taken into consideration as appropriate in applying either method.

In general, once a health care entity estimates the third-party settlement adjustment using either the most likely amount method or expected value method, it should then apply the variable consideration constraint to determine whether it is probable that inclusion of that estimate in the transaction price will not result in a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized when the third-party settlement adjustment is finalized. However, if the health care entity's estimate of the third-party settlement adjustment is consistent with the objective of the variable consideration constraint (i.e., it is probable that there will not be a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized), separate application of the variable consideration constraint may not be necessary.

Paragraph 7.6.56 of the Revenue Recognition AAG discusses the following factors a health care entity should consider when explicitly applying the variable consideration constraint and assessing whether it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur:

• To what extent is the third-party settlement affected by factors not within the health care entity's control? Typically, the greater the extent to which the amount collected from the third-party payor is

Page 23 of 39 © RSM US LLP

affected by factors not within the health care entity's control, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur. The health care entity typically has very little (if any) control over the finalized third-party settlement adjustment when the third-party payor is a government entity, such as Medicare or Medicaid.

- How much experience does the health care entity have with the third-party payor? The nature and extent of the experience, which could vary significantly depending on the third-party payor, should be taken into consideration when evaluating the likelihood that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur. For example, a health care entity may have significant experience with Medicare and Medicaid, but less experience with an insurance company new to the geographic region in which the health care entity operates. When a health care entity does not have sufficient historical experience with a third-party payor, applying the variable consideration constraint could result in certain components of a third-party settlement adjustment being partially or fully constrained. As the health care entity builds sufficient experience with the third-party payor, the uncertainty related to the settlement adjustments with that third-party payor likely will decrease, which may, over time, result in a smaller portion of the third-party settlement adjustment being constrained.
- How long does it take for the third-party settlement adjustment to be finalized? It is not uncommon for a year or longer to pass before a third-party settlement adjustment is finalized. Typically, the longer it takes, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur.
- To what extent does the health care entity offer price concessions to the third-party payor or otherwise change the payment terms? Typically, when the third-party payor is not Medicare or Medicaid, the greater the extent to which the health care entity offers price concessions or otherwise changes the payment terms, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized could occur. When the third-party payor is Medicare or Medicaid, the health care entity does not offer price concessions or otherwise change the payment terms because Medicare or Medicaid dictates the prices and payment terms.
- How broad is the range of possible third-party settlement adjustments captured in the health care
 entity's historical information for the third-party payor? Typically, the broader the range of third-party
 settlement adjustments, the more likely it is that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
 recognized could occur.

In most cases, a third-party settlement adjustment encompasses contracts between the health care entity and many of its patients. As noted in paragraph 7.6.58 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, for purposes of evaluating the likelihood and significance of a third-party settlement adjustment when applying or considering the variable consideration constraint, the health care entity should look at the third-party settlement adjustment in relation to all of the reimbursements from the third-party payor to the health care entity for all of the contracts covered by the third-party settlement adjustment.

Paragraph 7.6.70 of the Revenue Recognition AAG includes examples illustrating the application of the variable consideration guidance to revenue related to or affected by the Medicare program in the following ways:

- Medicare sends a notice of final program settlement to close out a cost report year.
- Medicare subjects certain claims to the Recovery Audit Contractor Program.
- Medicare determines the final payment under the Disproportionate Share Hospital Program.

11.2 Significant financing component

In applying the significant financing component guidance (which is discussed in Section 6.2) to third-party settlement adjustments, the health care entity should first determine whether a significant financing component exists. In doing so, the health care entity should understand all of the relevant facts and

Page 24 of 39 © RSM US LLP

circumstances, including the factors giving rise to the third-party settlement adjustment, the length of time it takes to finalize the adjustment and the process by which the third-party settlement adjustment is finalized.

The significant financing component guidance specifically indicates that a significant financing component does not exist in three situations. Paragraph 7.6.66 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates how the three indicators typically apply to third-party settlements:

- Consideration generally is not paid in advance.
- Such adjustments usually involve substantial variable consideration (as discussed in Section 6.1) and the timing of consideration is outside the control of the health care entity.
- The amount of the third-party settlement adjustment arises due to the normal course of cost report settlements and not as a result of a financing arrangement.

While each health care entity should make this determination based on its own facts and circumstances, paragraph 7.6.67 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that it is likely that a significant financing component should not be reflected in the accounting for the third-party settlements because the timing of the payment is at the discretion of the third-party payor and does not involve the patient.

12. CCRCs

Contracts entered into by CCRCs with their residents can vary significantly across CCRCs and even within one CCRC. A common type of contract entered into by CCRCs is a Type A life care contract (Type A contract). At the core of contracts entered into by CCRCs, including Type A contracts, is the CCRC providing specific services (including limited health care services) and use of its facilities (e.g., residency) to residents until the end of their lives. In many cases, the nature of the residency and services provided to a resident may change over time. For example, Type A contracts start with the resident in an independent-living setting (which entitles the resident to a certain type of residency and services), with the expectation that the resident will progress over their remaining life span through the assisted-living and skilled-nursing settings (each of which entitle the resident to a different type of residency and services).

While payment terms in CCRC contracts may vary, it is not uncommon for residents to pay an initial entrance fee and monthly fees. In many CCRC contracts, including Type A contracts, residents have the right to leave the facility with no obligation to pay any future monthly fees. The initial entrance fee may be fully refundable or fully nonrefundable, or the amount that is refundable may decrease over time. The contract may provide for the monthly fees to change over time for inflation or when the type of residency and services provided to the resident change (e.g., when the resident progresses from the independent-living setting to the assisted-living setting). Payment terms in Type A contracts typically include an initial entrance fee and monthly fees that start at a base amount that only changes over time to reflect an inflation factor. In other words, the monthly fee is not increased to reflect the changes in the nature of the residency and services provided to the resident when they move from the independent living setting to either the assisted-living or skilled-nursing setting. In addition, CCRC contracts may provide for only certain types of services to be covered by the monthly fee and for other types of services to be paid for separately.

Paragraphs 7.6.109 through 7.6.162 of the Revenue Recognition AAG discuss application of the five-step revenue recognition model to a CCRC contract (e.g., Type A contract) and address the following issues:

 What is the term of a CCRC contract given that it typically has an unspecified end date (i.e., the resident's end of life)?

Page 25 of 39 © RSM US LLP

- How should a CCRC identify performance obligations in a resident agreement in which the level of care will change over the resident's life span (i.e., are there multiple performance obligations or a single stand-ready performance obligation)?
- Does the resident's ability to in effect renew a CCRC contract each month by staying at the facility affect the identification of the promised goods or services and performance obligations (i.e., are there renewal options that should be accounted for separately)?
- Does a CCRC contract that includes a nonrefundable entrance fee provide the customer with a material right? If so, when should revenue related to the material right be recognized?
- When a CCRC contract includes an advance fee that is refundable, how is the refund right taken into consideration in estimating the transaction price?
- Does a CCRC contract that includes an advance fee include a significant financing component that should be reflected in the transaction price?

Examples 7-6-12 through 7-6-14 of the Revenue Recognition AAG illustrate the calculations for allocating nonrefundable upfront fees to the material rights provided in a Type A contract.

12.1 Costs incurred to obtain residents

CCRCs incur a variety of costs to obtain residents—from paying a commission to the salesperson responsible for obtaining a contract with a new resident to the costs of processing the contract with a new resident to the costs of soliciting potential new residents, just to name a few.

Paragraphs 7.7.64 and 7.7.66 of the Revenue Recognition AAG discuss the application of the contract costs guidance (see Chapter 9) to the costs incurred by a CCRC to obtain contracts with residents. While commission costs, if significant, could be capitalized under ASC 340-40, costs to solicit potential new residents and process new contracts generally are not incremental to obtaining a specific contract and should be expensed.

For those costs capitalized under ASC 340-40, paragraphs 7.7.70 through 7.7.73 of the Revenue Recognition AAG also address the considerations involved in identifying the appropriate amortization period and method.

12.2 Liabilities related to providing future residency and services to current residents

ASC 954-440-35 provides guidance related to recognizing a liability for the CCRC's obligation to provide future residency and services to current residents (i.e., a future service obligation). Based on this guidance, a CCRC records a future service obligation if the advance fees and periodic fees to be recognized as revenue in the future are less than the costs of providing the resident with residency and services in the future.

Paragraph 7.6.161 of the Revenue Recognition AAG addresses how a contract liability arising from advance fees or capitalized contract costs recognized under ASC 340-40 should be reflected in a CCRC's calculation of the obligation to provide future residency and services.

Page 26 of 39 © RSM US LLP

13. Risk sharing arrangements

Paragraphs 7.6.73 through 7.6.108 of the Revenue Recognition AAG provide guidance addressing issues that arise when a health care entity applies ASC 606 to risk sharing arrangements, specifically those related to The Comprehensive Care for Joint Replacement (CCJR) model.

Under the CCJR model, a hospital is subject to a bonus or penalty payable by or to Medicare (the CCJR bonus or penalty) that is based on the entire spend related to a patient episode, which begins with the Medicare patient's admittance to the hospital for the joint replacement surgery and ends 90 days after the patient is discharged from the hospital. As a result, the entire spend includes the costs associated with the joint replacement surgery and hospital stay, as well as any health care services provided within 90 days of discharge, which are referred to as post-acute services and may include, for example, a nursing home stay, a rehabilitation center stay, physical therapy visits and home health care visits. Some or all of the post-acute services may be provided by health care entities not related to the hospital. While the purpose of the CCJR model is to encourage all of the health care service providers involved in a patient episode to provide effective and efficient care throughout the entire patient episode, the CCJR bonus or penalty is payable to or by the hospital. As a result, the hospital may undertake care coordination activities across health care service providers involved in the patient episode to help manage the effectiveness and efficiency of care provided throughout the entire patient episode. The discussion in the Revenue Recognition AAG (and, therefore, this section) focuses solely on the hospital's accounting for the CCJR bonus or penalty and does not address the hospital's accounting for any arrangements it has with the post-acute service providers or the post-acute service provider's accounting for the services it provides to the patient.

The CCJR bonus or penalty is based on a performance year, which is a calendar year. Patient episodes included in a performance year are those that end within that year. The CCJR bonus or penalty is calculated based on the actual amount spent by Medicare on the patient episodes included in a performance year compared to the total target price for those episodes, which is adjusted to reflect both the hospital's quality score as determined by Medicare and the effects of potential overlaps between the CCJR model and other Medicare payment models, such as the shared savings program. In addition, a stop-gain or stop-loss percentage limits the amount of a CCJR bonus or penalty.

Medicare typically notifies the hospital of its quality score four to six months after the performance year ends. In addition, Medicare sends two reconciliation reports related to each performance year. The first reconciliation report typically is received by the hospital two months after the performance year ends and includes information available at that time about claims received for patient episodes ending in the performance year and information about the target price per patient. This report may result in an interim CCJR bonus or penalty. The second reconciliation report typically is received some time after the first reconciliation report (e.g., 14 months after the performance year ends) and includes the final amount of any CCJR bonus or penalty.

Accounting for a CCJR bonus or penalty typically raises issues in applying the first three steps of the fivestep revenue recognition model. Those issues are discussed in the remainder of this section. For additional information related to Steps 4 and 5, refer to Chapter 7 and Chapter 8, respectively.

13.1 Identifying the contract with the customer (including evaluating collectibility)

While paragraph 7.6.79 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that ASC 606 should be used to account for the contract between the patient and the health care entity, paragraph 7.6.80 goes on to indicate that a third-party payor's involvement (such as Medicare's involvement in the CCJR bonus or penalty) should be considered when estimating the transaction price for the contract. This is similar to the discussion in Chapter 11 of this white paper related to third-party settlement adjustments.

As discussed in Chapter 4 and Section 10.1, the contract existence criteria must be met to move on to Step 2 of the five-step revenue recognition model. As indicated in paragraph 7.6.81 of the Revenue

Page 27 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Recognition AAG, the following should be considered in applying these criteria when a hospital provides patient services that are subject to the CCJR model:

- If, prior to performing the joint replacement surgery, the hospital has not obtained signed forms from the patient that constitute a written contract (e.g., a patient responsibility form), it should consider whether the patient's scheduling of the surgery in advance creates an oral or implied contract.
- The hospital should consider whether the contract with the patient (whether written, oral or implied) gives it the right to payment for the services provided to the patient.
- The hospital should consider whether the payment terms can be identified, including those payment terms applicable to both Medicare and the patient (in the form of a copay or deductible).
- The hospital should consider whether its contract with the patient has commercial substance in that its future cash flows are expected to change as a result of providing services to the patient.
- The hospital should consider whether collection of substantially all of the amount to which it will be
 entitled in exchange for the services that will be transferred to the patient is probable (i.e., likely to
 occur). Additional discussion of the considerations involved in applying this criterion to situations
 involving third-party payors is provided in Sections 10.1 and Chapter 11.

When the contract existence criteria are not met, revenue recognition is deferred until the contract existence criteria are met or one of the situations in the deferral guidance discussed in Chapter 4 arises.

13.2 Identifying the performance obligations

As discussed in Section 5.1, the first step in identifying the performance obligations in a contract is identifying the promised goods or services in the contract. Once that step is complete, criteria are applied to determine whether the promises to provide goods or services should be treated as performance obligations and accounted for separately. While each hospital should make this determination based on its own facts and circumstances related to the services it provides in connection with a patient episode under the CCJR model, paragraph 7.6.84 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that such services generally will be considered a single combined performance obligation for inpatient health care services.

With respect to identifying the promised goods or services in the contract, Section 5.1 notes that not all activities performed by the entity in connection with the contract transfer a good or service to the customer. One issue that arises in identifying the promised goods or services in a contract with a patient subject to the CCJR model involves whether any care coordination activities undertaken by the hospital across the patient episode represent a promised good or service. While each health care entity should make this determination based on its own facts and circumstances, paragraph 7.6.85 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that such care coordination activities generally do not transfer a promised good or service to the patient. As a result, they generally do not represent a performance obligation to which part of the transaction price is allocated. However, paragraph 7.6.85 of the Revenue Recognition AAG goes on to indicate that a hospital should consider whether it has made any implied promises to provide the patient with either post-acute transitional services or coordination of care across post-acute service providers. If the hospital has made any such promises, it should evaluate whether the underlying services are distinct. Those services that are distinct should be considered performance obligations.

13.3 Determining the transaction price

Hospitals may apply Step 3 of the five-step revenue recognition model using a portfolio approach, which is discussed in Chapter 14. In doing so, a hospital typically will group together in one portfolio the individual patient contracts subject to the CCJR model that have patient episodes ending in the same performance year. This approach is consistent with the basis on which the CCJR bonus or penalty is determined. The remainder of the discussion in this section is based on the assumption that the CCJR bonus or penalty is accounted for on a portfolio basis.

Page 28 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Issues that arise in applying the guidance on determining the transaction price to a patient contract subject to the CCJR model include those related to:

- Variable consideration. Given how the CCJR bonus or penalty is calculated, the uncertainties that
 exist with respect to many of the inputs used in the calculation and the amount of time it takes to
 resolve many of these uncertainties (e.g., 14 months after the end of the performance year), a patient
 contract subject to the CCJR model includes variable consideration (see Section 13.3.1 for additional
 discussion).
- Significant financing component. Given the period of time between when the hospital provides services to the patient and when the final CCJR bonus or penalty is determined, the question arises as to whether there is a significant financing component that should be reflected in the transaction price (see Section 13.3.2 for additional discussion).

13.3.1. Variable consideration

A hospital that enters into patient contracts subject to the CCJR model should recognize revenue for the normal Medicare Severity-Diagnosis Related Group payments in its customary manner, which is discussed in Chapter 10. The effects on the transaction price of the CCJR bonus or penalty is evaluated separately by applying the variable consideration guidance to the portfolio of contracts for a performance year. Applying that guidance may result in the hospital recognizing an adjustment to the transaction price for that portfolio (due to an estimated CCJR bonus or penalty) and recognizing or adjusting a receivable or payable to Medicare for CCJR program settlements.

Based on the guidance discussed in Section 6.1, the amount a hospital should reflect in the transaction price for the CCJR bonus (as an increase to the transaction price) or penalty (as a reduction to the transaction price), if any, should be determined by estimating the expected CCJR bonus or penalty and applying the variable consideration constraint such that the transaction price is limited to the amount for which it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the final amount of the bonus or penalty is communicated in the second reconciliation report. To the extent the hospital is not able to conclude that it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the CCJR bonus or penalty is finalized, it should reflect the maximum CCJR penalty that could be assessed by Medicare in the transaction price.

Based on the guidance discussed in Section 6.1, when estimating the CCJR bonus or penalty for a portfolio of contracts, a hospital should use whichever of the most likely amount method or the expected value method provides the better estimate in its facts and circumstances. Determining whether this estimate should be constrained as a result of applying the variable consideration constraint requires the hospital to consider a number of factors, including:

- To what extent is the CCJR bonus or penalty affected by factors not within the hospital's control?
 Paragraph 7.6.96 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that whether a hospital receives a
 CCJR bonus or penalty is mostly not within its own control because of the involvement of other post acute service providers. As a result, this factor coupled with the remaining factors may cause a
 hospital to conclude that the estimate should be constrained.
- How many possible CCJR bonus and penalty amounts are there and how broad is the range of possible CCJR bonus and penalty amounts? The larger the number of CCJR bonus and penalty amounts and the broader the range of those amounts, the more likely it is that the estimate should be constrained.
- How long does it take for the hospital to obtain information about the amounts charged by the postacute service providers? The longer it takes for the hospital to obtain this information, the more likely it is that the estimate should be constrained. The analysis of this factor may be affected by whether the post-acute service providers are within the same health system as the hospital or if the hospital

Page 29 of 39 © RSM US LLP

has collaboration agreements under which the post-acute service providers must supply the hospital with certain information.

- How much history does the hospital have with the CCJR model? The less history that is available on
 which a hospital can base its estimate, the greater the likelihood that the estimate should be
 constrained.
- How uncertain are the individual inputs used in the calculation of the estimated CCJR bonus or
 penalty? The greater the degree of uncertainty, the more likely it is that the estimated CCJR bonus or
 penalty should be constrained. For example, a hospital must consider how likely it is that its quality
 score will be different than expected or how likely it is that its estimate of complications or
 readmissions across an entire portfolio will be different than expected. The greater the likelihood of
 the actual outcomes for these uncertainties being different than what the hospital expected, the
 greater the likelihood the estimate should be constrained.

The analysis of many of these factors may change over time as a hospital gets more experience with the CCJR model.

Until the final CCJR bonus or penalty amount is communicated in the second reconciliation report, the hospital must revisit the estimated CCJR bonus or penalty included in the transaction price at the end of each reporting period to determine whether an adjustment is necessary. Given that the CCJR bonus or penalty is calculated based on a performance year and that the final CCJR bonus or penalty may not be known until 14 months after the performance year ends, the likelihood of an adjustment may vary depending on where in the CCJR bonus or penalty payment timeline the end of the reporting period falls. For example, as the timeline progresses and more information becomes available (e.g., the hospital's quality score becomes known, more information about the claims submitted by post-acute service providers becomes known), the effects of applying the variable consideration constraint may change and give rise to an adjustment.

For interim reporting purposes, paragraph 7.6.101 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that the hospital should estimate the CCJR bonus or penalty for the performance year at the end of an interim period and recognize a pro rata portion of the bonus or penalty in the interim period based on the interim period's proportionate share of the total performance year. The objective is to have each interim period reflect a reasonable portion of the estimated bonus or penalty for the performance year such that the hospital is recognizing revenue as it is transferring services to the patient.

The fact that the CCJR bonus or penalty is calculated based on a performance year and that the final CCJR bonus or penalty may not be known until 14 months after the performance year ends creates the potential for a hospital to have three performance years open at the end of any given financial reporting period. In those situations, the hospital must separately evaluate the CCJR bonus or penalty for each of the open performance years and separately determine the accounting effects of each of those evaluations on the current financial reporting period.

A comprehensive example illustrating the complexities associated with accounting for the CCJR bonus or penalty for multiple performance years in one financial reporting period is provided in paragraph 7.6.108 of the Revenue Recognition AAG.

13.3.2. Significant financing component

Given the amount of time that may pass before a CCJR bonus or penalty is finalized, the hospital should determine whether a significant financing component exists (which is generally discussed in Section 6.2).

The significant financing component guidance specifically indicates that a significant financing component does not exist in three situations. One of those situations is when there is substantial variable consideration and payment of that consideration is contingent on the resolution of an uncertainty that is not substantially in the entity's or customer's control. While each hospital should make this determination

Page 30 of 39 © RSM US LLP

based on its own facts and circumstances, paragraph 7.6.105 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that a CCJR bonus or penalty does not give rise to a significant financing component because the timing of the payment is determined by Medicare and is not determined by the patient.

14. Applying a portfolio approach

The discussion in this section is based primarily on the guidance in paragraphs 7.7.01 to 7.7.15 of the Revenue Recognition AAG.

ASC 606 includes a practical expedient that allows an entity to apply the guidance to a portfolio of similar contracts (or performance obligations) if doing so is not reasonably expected to result in materially different outcomes compared to individually accounting for the contracts (or performance obligations).

The practical expedient may be applied to none, some or all of a health care entity's contracts (or performance obligations). In other words, the practical expedient is optional. In addition, the practical expedient to account for a portfolio of contracts does not have to be applied to all groups of similar contracts. For example, a health care entity may elect to account for one group of similar contracts as a portfolio of contracts and another group of similar contracts as individual contracts.

Electing the practical expedient to account for a portfolio of contracts is not the same as using a portfolio of data to make an estimate for an individual contract. For example, a health care entity may account for its contracts individually (i.e., not elect the practical expedient), but use a portfolio of historical data for similar contracts to estimate the price concessions for an individual contract. When using a portfolio of historical data to make an estimate for an individual contract, it is important to monitor contracts in that portfolio to evaluate whether they continue to be representative of the individual contract.

As discussed in paragraph 7.7.04 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, for purposes of determining whether accounting for a portfolio of contracts is not reasonably expected to result in materially different outcomes compared to individually accounting for the contracts, a health care entity should consider whether it has a sufficient amount of homogeneous patient data on which to base its determination.

Questions for a health care entity to consider when determining if contracts within a group are similar include:

- What type of services do the contracts cover? For example, a contract for inpatient services likely would not be considered similar to a contract for outpatient services, and a contract for elective services likely would not be considered similar to a contract for services that are not elective.
- Who is the payor? For example, a contract for which the payor is a government entity (e.g., Medicare, Medicaid) likely would not be considered similar to a contract for which the payor is an insurance company, which likely would not be considered similar to a contract for which the payor is an uninsured self-pay patient.
- To what extent is the patient responsible for payment? For example, a contract for an insured patient with a low deductible amount likely would not be considered similar to a contract for an insured patient with a high deductible amount, which likely would not be considered similar to a contract for an uninsured self-pay patient.
- During what time frame were services provided under the contract? For example, contracts entered into six months apart from each other likely would not be considered similar, while contracts entered into within one month of each other may be considered similar depending on the degree of similarity they possess with respect to other important characteristics.
- Are the contracts related to services provided at different facilities of the health care entity? For
 example, contracts entered into by the health care entity at Facility A in City X may not be considered
 similar to contracts entered into by the entity at Facility B in City Z.

Page 31 of 39 © RSM US LLP

- Are the contracts processed using different billing systems? For example, a contract for the health care services entered into by Facility A in City X may not be considered similar to a contract for the same services entered into by Facility B in City X when different billing systems are used by each facility. In this situation, the health care entity needs to understand the nature and extent of any differences between the two billing systems and the related processes before concluding whether the contracts are similar.
- Do the contracts have similar collection or reimbursement rates? For example, a contract with a patient that is assigned a satisfactory credit and collection rating by the health care entity should not be considered similar to a contract with a patient assigned an unsatisfactory credit and collection rating.
- Is the payor for the contracts unknown because, for example, the health care entity is attempting to qualify the patients for Medicaid? As discussed in Section 10.2, certain health care entities are required by law or regulation to provide emergency services to patients without regard to whether the patient is insured or whether the patient is a credit risk. Health care entities in this situation often have processes in place to attempt to qualify such patients for Medicaid. Given the amount of time it can take to work through the Medicaid qualification process, these health care entities may consider whether it is appropriate to have a temporary "pending-Medicaid" portfolio. If having such a portfolio is appropriate, it is important to ensure that patients are transferred out of the portfolio on a timely basis to another portfolio (e.g., Medicaid, self-pay, charity care) or accounted for on an individual contract basis.

Only after considering these and other characteristics relevant to its facts and circumstances will the health care entity be in a position to exercise appropriate discretion and judgment in identifying portfolios of similar contracts for which accounting for them as a portfolio is not reasonably expected to result in materially different outcomes compared to accounting for them individually. To the extent a health care entity expects to apply the practical expedient to account for a portfolio of contracts, it should evaluate whether has documented the analysis showing that the portfolio approach is not reasonably expected to result in materially different outcomes compared to individually accounting for the contracts.

Once a health care entity identifies a portfolio of contracts to which the practical expedient will be applied, it should monitor the portfolio to determine whether any changes or unexpected trends develop that draw into question whether the contracts in the portfolio continue to be similar. As discussed in paragraph 7.7.10 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, during this monitoring, the health care entity can add a contract with similar characteristics to the portfolio and should remove a contract that develops dissimilar characteristics from the portfolio. For example, consider a health care entity that has three contract portfolios, each of which includes patients with similar credit ratings. If a patient's credit rating changes between when the health care services are provided and when the health care entity completes its collection efforts related to those services (e.g., the patient's credit rating worsens because they lost a job), the contract may need to be moved from one portfolio to another. For another example, consider a situation in which one of the similarities a portfolio of contracts shares relates to the amount of the copayment or deductible the patient is responsible for paying. After the insurance company makes its required payments for the contracts in this portfolio, the health care entity may consider whether it is appropriate to transfer these contracts to a portfolio that includes only self-pay contracts.

15. Presentation and disclosure

Presentation and disclosure issues that arise when a health care entity applies the related requirements of ASC 606 are addressed in paragraphs 7.7.16 through 7.7.59 of the Revenue Recognition AAG, which is the primary basis for the discussion in this section.

Page 32 of 39 © RSM US LLP

15.1 Presentation

Application of ASC 606 may result in the recognition and presentation on the balance sheet of a contract asset or liability for the difference between the health care entity's performance (i.e., the goods or services transferred to the customer) and the customer's performance (i.e., the consideration paid by, or unconditionally due from, the customer).

When determining the amount of the contract asset or liability to be recognized, if any, a health care entity should first determine whether it has an unconditional and noncancellable right to any consideration from the customer (or a third-party payor paying on the customer's behalf). If the contract is cancellable by the customer and the health care entity has not yet performed, it cannot have an unconditional right to payment. An unconditional right exists when only the passage of time is required before payment. If the health care entity has an unconditional and noncancellable right to consideration, it should recognize a receivable, even if the amount to which it has an unconditional and noncancellable right has not yet been billed. For example, if a hospital has an unconditional and noncancellable right to payment from a patient or third-party payor (including amounts due for third-party settlement adjustments) but has not yet billed the patient or third-party payor, the hospital should recognize those rights as patient or third-party payor unbilled receivables, respectively. In addition, a health care entity is still required by ASC 954-310-45-1 to separately present on the face of the balance sheet the receivable due from third-party payors related to third-party settlement adjustments and other retroactive adjustments.

A contract asset arises if the health care entity's performance is greater than that of the customer, which is when the revenue recognized by the health care entity is greater than the consideration paid by and unconditionally due from the customer. In other words, the contract asset does not include amounts paid by or unconditionally due from the customer. The contract asset represents the health care entity's conditional right to consideration in exchange for the goods or services it has transferred to a customer, but for which the customer has not paid, payment is not yet due (e.g., for goods or services provided to a patient that has been admitted to, but not yet discharged from, a hospital) and the health care entity cannot yet bill the customer.

Conversely, a contract liability arises if the customer's performance is greater than that of the health care entity (i.e., the consideration paid or recognized as a receivable is greater than the revenue recognized). This liability represents the health care entity's obligation to perform with respect to the contract. For example, if a resident in a CCRC makes an upfront nonrefundable payment and doing so results in the resident's performance being greater than that of the CCRC (at least early in the CCRC contract), the CCRC recognizes a contract liability. This liability represents at least part of the CCRC's obligation to perform with respect to the contract with the resident.

A refund liability to the customer (which may arise, for example, when the customer has the right of return or refund) should not be included with the contract liability for presentation purposes.

"Contract liability" and "contract asset" are not required descriptors for the related asset or liability in the balance sheet. However, if a descriptor other than contract asset is used, it needs to clearly indicate that the asset represents something other than a receivable.

Once recognized, a receivable is accounted for in accordance with the accounts receivable guidance in the ASC and a contract asset is evaluated for impairment in accordance with the accounts receivable guidance in the ASC.

15.2 Disclosure

ASC 606 includes many qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements. The objective of the disclosure requirements is to help financial statement users understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and related cash flows. In general, health care entities are required to disclose a

Page 33 of 39 © RSM US LLP

variety of information about the contracts they have with customers and significant judgments used in the application of ASC 606.

For the disclosures below, a public health care entity is a public business entity or a not-for-profit entity that has issued, or is a conduit bond obligor for, securities that are traded, listed, or quoted on an exchange or an over-the-counter market.

15.2.1. Disaggregation of revenue

Disclosures required for public health care entities and elective for nonpublic health care entities. Quantitative disaggregation of revenue based on how economic factors affect the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue recognition and cash flows should be disclosed by public health care entities and may be disclosed by nonpublic health care entities. Given that the amount of revenue recognized for a particular service often depends on the type of payor (e.g., Medicare, commercial insurers, self-pay), it may be appropriate for a health care entity to disaggregate revenue by payor. In considering various factors with respect to the level of disaggregation, a health care entity may conclude that it is appropriate to disaggregate, for example, revenue related to Medicare from revenue related to Medicaid, revenue related to one (or a group of) commercial insurers from another (or different group of) commercial insurers or revenue related to self-pay payors that are uninsured from self-pay payors that are responsible for a copayment or deductible. Other attributes that it may be appropriate for a health care entity to use in disaggregating revenue for disclosure include:

- The geographic regions of its operations
- The types of patients it serves
- The types of markets it serves
- The types of contracts into which it enters
- The timing (e.g., inpatient vs. outpatient) of the services provided
- The types of services it provides
- The operating segments it uses

Disclosures required for nonpublic health care entities that do not elect to provide the disclosures required for public health care entities. Such nonpublic health care entities should disaggregate revenue based on when control of the goods or services transfers to the patient (e.g., over time or at a point in time). In addition, such nonpublic health care entities should provide qualitative discussion about how economic factors (such as those that might otherwise serve as the basis for quantitative disaggregation) affect the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue recognition and cash flows.

15.2.2. Contract balances

Disclosures required for all health care entities. The opening and closing balances of accounts receivable, contract assets and contract liabilities should be disclosed or presented separately on the face of the balance sheet by all health care entities.

Additional disclosures required for public health care entities and elective for nonpublic health care entities. The following information should be disclosed by public health care entities and may be disclosed by nonpublic health care entities:

• The amount of revenue recognized in the current reporting period that was included in the contract liability balance at the end of the previous reporting period. For example, when a CCRC has a contract liability as a result of receiving upfront nonrefundable payments, it should disclose the amount of that liability that was recognized as revenue in the current reporting period.

Page 34 of 39 © RSM US LLP

- An explanation of the timing of the health care entity's satisfaction of its performance obligations in
 contrast to the timing of when it typically receives payment for providing the underlying goods or
 services and how the contract asset and contract liability balances are affected by these factors. For
 example, when a health care entity provides services to Medicare patients, it should disclose the
 timing of providing services to those patients in contrast to the timing of when it receives payment
 from Medicare (including any third-party settlement adjustments) and how those two factors affect the
 contract asset and contract liability balances.
- A qualitative and quantitative explanation of what caused significant changes in the contract assets or contract liabilities during the reporting period. For example, if a health care entity acquires another health care entity during the reporting period, the effects of the acquisition on the contract assets or contract liabilities should be explained. For another example, any significant changes in the estimates of third-party settlements affecting contract assets should also be explained.

15.2.3. Performance obligations

Disclosures required for all health care entities. The following information should be disclosed about a health care entity's performance obligations:

- When its performance obligations are typically satisfied. For example, a rehabilitation center may disclose that its performance obligations are satisfied over time as it provides services.
- Significant payment terms. For example:
 - A health care entity that provides services to Medicare patients may disclose the amount Medicare pays for services as it differs from the health care entity's standard charges for those services and the nature of the third-party settlement adjustment process in place with respect to Medicare patients and the uncertainty it creates with respect to the timing and amount of payments received from Medicare, including how the health care entity estimates the effects of the adjustment process.
 - A health care entity that provides implicit price concessions to uninsured patients may disclose the nature and basis for those concessions (e.g., based on historical collection experience).
 - A CCRC may disclose whether it charges advance or monthly fees and whether those fees are refundable.
- Nature of the goods or services provided to customers. For example, a hospital may disclose that it provides both inpatient and outpatient services.
- Obligations related to contracts, such as rights of return or refund. For example, a CCRC may disclose the circumstances under which an advance fee is refundable.
- Warranties and related obligations. For example, a surgical eye center may disclose that it provides a warranty on its laser vision correction surgeries.
- Revenue recognized in the current reporting period related to performance obligations satisfied in the
 prior reporting period. For example, a health care entity that provides services to Medicare patients
 may disclose the revenue it recognized in the current reporting period related to services provided to
 Medicare patients in a prior reporting period resulting from the estimated third-party settlement
 adjustment recognized in the prior period being less than the final third-party settlement adjustment
 received in the current period.

15.2.4. Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

Remaining performance obligations are those performance obligations identified in a contract entered into before the end of the reporting period for which some or all of the underlying goods or services have not been transferred to the customer at the end of the reporting period.

Page 35 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Disclosures required for public health care entities and elective for nonpublic health care entities. With certain exceptions, the following information should be disclosed by public health care entities and may be disclosed by nonpublic health care entities about their remaining performance obligations at the end of the reporting period:

- The total amount of the transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. For example, a CCRC may disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations it has under its open CCRC contracts at the end of the reporting period.
- An explanation of when the health care entity expects to recognize the transaction price allocated to
 those performance obligations as revenue. This disclosure can be satisfied either quantitatively (using
 appropriate time bands for when the allocated transaction price is expected to be recognized as
 revenue) or qualitatively. For example, a CCRC may disclose the time bands related to when it
 expects to recognize the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations it has
 under its open CCRC contracts at the end of the reporting period.

As described further in ASC 606-10-50-14 to 50-14B, a public health care entity may be optionally exempt from disclosing this information for certain performance obligations. A public health care entity should disclose the optional exemptions it has elected as well as their nature, their remaining duration and a description of any variable consideration excluded from the disclosures as a result of the optional exemptions elected.

In addition, public health care entities should and nonpublic health care entities may disclose whether there is any consideration not included in the transaction price that has been allocated to the remaining performance obligations. For example, a health care entity that provides services to Medicare patients may disclose that the transaction price related to these services was subject to the variable consideration constraint, which means some of the consideration has not been included in the transaction price.

15.2.5. Significant judgments

A health care entity should disclose those judgments (and the changes to those judgments) it makes in applying ASC 606 that have a significant effect on when and how much revenue is recognized related to its contracts, including those judgments (and changes in judgments) involved in determining when its performance obligations are satisfied and determining the transaction price and allocating it to the performance obligations.

Disclosures required for all health care entities. The following information should be disclosed by all health care entities:

- For performance obligations satisfied over time, the method (e.g., input or output) used to recognize revenue over time. For example, if a CCRC recognizes revenue ratably for the residency and related services it provides to residents, it may disclose that fact.
- The judgments involved in identifying the methods, inputs and assumptions used in the application of the variable consideration constraint. For example, if a health care entity provides its patients with implicit price concessions or is subject to third-party settlement adjustments as a result of providing services to Medicare patients, it should disclose the methods, inputs and assumptions reflected in the application of the variable consideration constraint (e.g., historical experience, range of potential outcomes). While disclosing the amount of any implicit price concessions offered by a health care entity is not required, paragraph 7.7.47 of the Revenue Recognition AAG indicates that a health care entity should consider disclosing the amount to the extent the information would be meaningful to users of the financial statements.

Page 36 of 39 © RSM US LLP

Additional disclosures required for public health care entities and elective for nonpublic health care entities. The following information should be disclosed by public health care entities and may be disclosed by nonpublic health care entities:

- For performance obligations satisfied over time, an explanation about why the method (e.g., input or
 output method) used to recognize revenue over time provides a faithful depiction of how the health
 care entity transfers goods or services. For example, if a CCRC recognizes revenue ratably for the
 residency and related services it provides to residents, it should explain why that method is a faithful
 depiction of how it transfers goods or services.
- For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, when control of the goods or services transfers to the health care entity's patients. For example, a retail pharmacy may disclose that control of the prescription drugs transfers to the customer at the point of sale.
- The judgments involved in identifying the methods, inputs and assumptions used to determine and allocate the transaction price and measure any obligations related to the contract. For example:
 - If there is variable consideration (e.g., implicit price concessions, third-party settlement adjustments), the health care entity should explain how it estimates the variable consideration (e.g., the most likely amount method or the expected value method).
 - If there is a significant financing component included in the contract (e.g., long-term payment plans for uninsured self-pay patients), the health care entity should disclose how it was reflected in the transaction price.
 - If there is more than one performance obligation in the contract (e.g., health care services and renewal options), the health care entity should disclose how it estimated the standalone selling price of each performance obligation. In addition, if the contract includes a discount or variable consideration, the health care entity should disclose how the discount or variable consideration was allocated.
 - If the health care entity offers the right of return or refund (e.g., right of refund related to some or all of an advance payment made to a CCRC), it should disclose how it estimated the related obligation.

15.2.6. Practical expedients

Disclosures required for public health care entities and elective for nonpublic health care entities. If a public health care entity has elected either of the following practical expedients, it should disclose that fact and whether the practical expedient results in not reflecting a significant financing component in the transaction price (see Section 6.2) or the practical expedient results in not capitalizing certain incremental costs related to obtaining a contract (see Chapter 9). As applicable, nonpublic health care entities may elect to make this disclosure.

15.2.7. Contract costs

Disclosures required for public health care entities and elective for nonpublic health care entities. The following information related to the costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract should be disclosed by public health care entities and may be disclosed by nonpublic health care entities:

- A description of the judgments made in identifying the costs that should be capitalized
- A description of the method used each reporting period to amortize the capitalized costs and the amount of amortization recognized for the reporting period
- The closing balances of capitalized costs, broken out by main category of asset (e.g., costs incurred to obtain a contract, fulfillment costs)

Page 37 of 39 © RSM US LLP

• The amount of any impairment loss recognized related to the capitalized costs

In addition, as mentioned previously, if a public health care entity has elected the practical expedient that would result in not capitalizing certain incremental costs related to obtaining a contract, it should disclose that fact. As applicable, nonpublic health care entities may elect to make this disclosure.

15.2.8. Disclosure examples

Paragraph 7.7.59 of the Revenue Recognition AAG provides an example of the disclosures provided by a public health care entity and an example of the disclosures provided by a nonpublic health care entity.

Page 38 of 39 © RSM US LLP

The FASB material is copyrighted by the Financial Accounting Foundation, 801 Main Avenue, Norwalk, CT 06851, and is used with permission.

+1 800 274 3978 rsmus.com

This document contains general information, may be based on authorities that are subject to change, and is not a substitute for professional advice or services. This document does not constitute audit, tax, consulting, business, financial, investment, legal or other professional advice, and you should consult a qualified professional advisor before taking any action based on the information herein. RSM US LLP, its affiliates and related entities are not responsible for any loss resulting from or relating to reliance on this document by any person. Internal Revenue Service rules require us to inform you that this communication may be deemed a solicitation to provide tax services. This communication is being sent to individuals who have subscribed to receive it or who we believe would have an interest in the topics discussed.

RSM US LLP is a limited liability partnership and the U.S. member firm of RSM International, a global network of independent audit, tax and consulting firms. The member firms of RSM International collaborate to provide services to global clients, but are separate and distinct legal entities that cannot obligate each other. Each member firm is responsible only for its own acts and omissions, and not those of any other party. Visit rsmus.com/aboutus for more information regarding RSM US LLP and RSM International.

RSM, the RSM logo and *the power of being understood* are registered trademarks of RSM International Association.

© 2023 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved.

